MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS OF HENRICO COUNTY, HELD IN THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BUILDING IN THE GOVERNMENT CENTER AT PARHAM AND HUNGARY SPRING ROADS, ON THURSDAY OCTOBER 22, 2015 AT 9:00 A.M., NOTICE HAVING BEEN PUBLISHED IN THE RICHMOND TIMESDISPATCH OCTOBER 5, 2015, AND OCTOBER 12, 2015.

Members Present:

Gentry Bell, Chairman Greg Baka, Vice Chairman

Dennis J. Berman Helen E. Harris Mark W. Romers

Also Present:

Jean M. Moore, Assistant Director of Planning

Benjamin Blankinship, Secretary Paul Gidley, County Planner

R. Miguel Madrigal, County Planner

Mr. Bell - Welcome to the October meeting of the Henrico County Board of Zoning Appeals. I ask you all to please stand and join me in pledging allegiance to the flag of our country.

Thank you. Mr. Blankinship, would you read our rules, please.

Mr. Blankinship - Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Board, ladies and gentlemen. The rules for this meeting are as follows: Acting as secretary, I will call the case; we only actually have one to hear this morning. As I'm speaking, everyone who intends to speak to that case should stand and then will be sworn in. Then we will have a brief presentation, introduction to the issue by the County attorney, and then a presentation by County staff. And then the appellant will speak. After he has spoken and the Board has asked their questions, anyone else who intends to speak will be given the opportunity.

This meeting is being recorded, so we will ask everyone who speaks to speak directly into the microphone on the podium, state your name, and please spell your last name so we get it correctly in the record.

There is one case on the agenda that has requested deferral, Mr. Chairman. That is CUP2015-00030, Bill Phillips.

CUP2015-00030 BILL PHILLIPS requests a conditional use permit pursuant to Section 24-95(i)(4) of the County Code to build a detached garage in the side yard at 9516 Arrowdel Court (RIVER ROAD FARMS) (Parcel 744-738-7017) zoned One-Family Residence District (R-1) (Tuckahoe).

37	Mr. Blankinship -	Is there anyone here to speak to this case? All	right.
38 39 40 41	Mr. Phillips - to pursue a solution that is	Bill Phillips. I'm just here to state that we wish within the current zoning code.	to defer
42	Mr. Blankinship -	All right.	
44 45 46	Mr. Baka - months?	Would the deferral request be for one mor	nth, two
47 48	Mr. Phillips -	One more month.	
49 50	Mr. Bell -	Any other questions? Then shall we have a mo	otion?
51 52 53	Mr. Baka - CUP2015-00030 for one r	Yes, Mr. Chairman. I'll make a motion that wonth until the November agenda.	e defer
54 55	Mr. Berman -	I second the motion.	
56 57 58 59		Any discussion? Hearing none, all those in ose opposed say nay. Hearing none, the motion ext meeting, which will be November 19th.	
60 61 62 63	-	c hearing and on a motion by Mr. Baka second <b>eferred</b> application CUP2015-00030, Bill Phillip 2015.	•
64 65 66 67 68	Affirmative: Negative: Absent:	Baka, Bell, Berman, Harris, Romers	5 0 0
69 70	Mr. Blankinship -	All right. APL2015-00002, Charles Shade.	
71 72 73 74 75		CHARLES SHADE appeals a decision of the Section 24-116(a) of the County Code regard (WESTHAM) (Parcel 760-737-3986) zone (R-3) (Tuckahoe).	ting the
76 77 78 79 80 81		Would everyone who intends to speak to the vorn in. Raise your right hands. Do you swe give is the truth, the whole truth, and nothing	ear the
82	Speakers (Standing) -	I do.	

Mr. Blankinship - Thank you. Mr. Rapisarda, if you would begin.

Mr. Rapisarda - Mr. Chairman, members of the Board, good morning. For the record, my name is Joe Rapisarda, and I'll spell that—R-a-p-i-s-a-r-d-a. I am here on behalf of the Director of Planning, who has asked me to address this appeal.

Members of the Board, I want to start this briefly by giving an opening and giving you the legal frame work that the Board should consider as their hear the matter this morning. I think in your handout we had a little glitz in the copying. But Virginia Code, Section 15.2-2309 sets out the powers of this Board. And I know the Board is generally familiar with that. This morning, we're here on an appeal by Mr. Shade, so it's paragraph 1 of that statute that the Board will be acting under to hear an appeal from a determination made by the County's director of Planning. And I want to note for the Board that the decision on the appeal, according to state law, shall be based on the Board's judgment of whether Mr. Emerson's decision was correct, which again is a commonsense notion in the statute. But the statute goes on to say, very importantly for Mr. Emerson, the determination of the administrative officer shall be presumed to be correct. So we come to the hearing this morning, members of the Board, with a presumption that the director's interpretation is correct according to Virginia law.

Now, at the hearing this morning—and again, if I may, indulge me, just to quote briefly from this statute: The administrative officer shall explain the basis for his determination. And in just a moment, I'm going to have Mr. Gidley, the County's planner, address the Board with some detail on that. But after he does that, members of the Board, then the law provides that the appellate, who is here, Mr. Shade, of course, has the burden of proof to rebut the presumption of correctness that the decision of Mr. Emerson is entitled to. And that presumption and that burden of proof relates to what they call the preponderance of the evidence. And that's a fancy legal term that's been interpreted and given to jurors in jury trials. The simplest explanation that I can give the Board is if you consider a football game, and you've got the 50-yard line there obviously. The person with the burden of proof has to get across the 50. So in other words, his or her evidence must be more persuasive and have greater weight, is the term, than that of the other party. So I wanted just to frame for the Board that as you go in and hear the matter, just remembering, if you will, that the decision is entitled to that presumption, and Mr. Shade does have the burden to prove that it's wrong.

Now, this determination has to do with accessory structures in the rear yard of Mr. Shade's property on Wood Road in Western Henrico, very nice neighborhood. But the provision of our Zoning Ordinance, which is 24-95.12(a)—and that's in your package as well—provides that these accessory structures cannot occupy more than 30 percent of the required minimum rear yard. And

there's a calculation that you'll hear Mr. Gidley explain to you members of the Board. So that's what we're focusing on in the appeal this morning.

After you hear Mr. Gidley, I think you will agree that this is a straightforward determination that's been made by the director. It's not really one, in my humble opinion, that involves the Board or anyone else interpreting what it means. It's a rather straightforward mathematical calculation that's done according to the plain words that are in the Zoning Ordinance section, as well as the numbers in the Table of Regulations.

I'll ask the Board, if I may, if I could reserve two minutes, if needed, at the end of Mr. Shade's remarks. I think that will expedite things, Mr. Chairman, if that's acceptable.

Mr. Bell - Acceptable.

144 Mr. Rapisarda - Thank you, sir. And that's all I have.

146 Mr. Bell - Any questions?

148 Mr. Baka - Not at this time.

150 Mr. Bell - Thank you, sir.

152 Mr. Rapisarda - Thank you.

Mr. Gidley - Good morning, Mr. Secretary, members of the Board of Zoning Appeals. This case is an appeal of a decision by the Director of Planning. On February 24, 2014, the appellate, Mr. Shade, applied for a building permit for a two-story guesthouse which actually contains an office on the second floor. The building permit was issued on February 27, 2014. In the packet you were given, the second page contains the application portion of that building permit.

On June 6, 2014, the Permit Center received a complaint regarding the size of the structure that was under construction. A zoning inspector and myself went out to the site to see if it was being constructed in accordance with the building permit and with the Zoning Ordinance. The biggest problem we noticed is that there were four accessory structures on the property, whereas the building permit had shown only three accessory structures. Even with the three accessory structures, one building needed to be removed in order to comply with the lot coverage requirement for accessory structures that Mr. Rapisarda just mentioned. If you look at the plot plan that was submitted with the building permit that's on your screen, you'll note here it says "shed to be removed," and that was so Mr. Shade could come within his 960-square-feet coverage limit. So his new building here and the remaining one here would comply with the 960 square feet.

When we went out there, this building was still here, and we noticed the building in the back right-hand corner here.

Given our findings, on July 21, 2014, the Assistant Director of Planning, Mr. O'Kelly, wrote Mr. Shade and asked him to revise his building permit to, amongst other things, show all the accessory structures on the property and also to show how he would comply with the coverage limit of the Code. The buildings out there now are shown here, and you can see the fourth one here.

Since this time as noted on here, Mr. Shade has removed this shed here that was 202 square feet in area. However, he's still over his coverage limit. Rather than removing an additional building, he has decided to appeal the Planning Department's interpretation of the Zoning Ordinance.

The handout that you were given, the first page is Powers and Duties of the Board of Zoning Appeals. If you go to the third page, it contains County Code Section 24-95. Mr. Rapisarda briefly referenced this. Under (i), it says, "Buildings and projections in yards. The following buildings, parts of buildings and uses may occupy or project into required minimum yards as indicated." And if you go down to number 2 it says "In a rear yard of a one-family or semi-detached dwelling. Any accessory use or detached accessory building or structure is permitted subject to the following." And under "a" it says "In an R district," and Mr. Shade is zoned R-3—this is page 3 of your handout. On page 3 of your handouts, i(2)a says "In an R district, the buildings or structures in the aggregate may not occupy more than 30 percent of the required minimum rear yard for the district. You will note that it doesn't say 30 percent of the rear yard or 30 percent of the actual rear yard, but specifically says 30 percent of the required minimum rear yard for the district.

The required minimum rear yard is determined by looking at the following page, which is headed Section 24-94, which should be the last page of your handout. You see at the bottom left-hand part of the column the R-3 district, which is what Mr. Shade is zoned. Under "Dwellings," you come over and it says "Minimum lot width," that's the narrowest lot you can have in the R-3 district, and that is 80 feet. And then as far as your smallest yard or minimum yard, that's determined by the rear-yard setback for the district, which is also highlighted, and that is 40 feet. So the smallest possible rear yard you can have in an R-3 district is an 80-foot lot width by a 40-foot rear yard setback depth. So if you take 80 feet by 40 feet, you get 3,200 square feet. And under the section of Code where it says 30 percent of the required minimum yard, you take 30 percent of 3,200 square feet, and this gives you a total of 960 square feet. On the plot plan that was submitted with this building permit that was referenced just a while ago—and actually that's here—you again see the 960 square feet total here. So that's what he needs to meet.

At the current time, as shown on this summary here, Mr. Shade's buildings in 219 total come to 1,374 square feet, which is well in excess of the 960-square-foot 220 limit. As someone who used to review building permits in the pre-Permit Center 221 days, I can tell you this is how for years and years this section of Code has been 222 applied and applied consistently by the County. Accordingly, we ask you to 223 uphold the determination of the Planning Department. Thank you. Are there any 224 questions? 225 226 Mr. Bell -Yes, I have a question. The calculation on the 227 previous—where it shows where the 960 feet were calculated? 228 229 Mr. Gidley -Yes sir. 230 231 Whose calculations are those? Mr. Bell -232 233 234 Mr. Blankinship -Go back to the plat. 235 On the plat? I suspect that was done by the permit Mr. Gidley -236 reviewer in the Permit Center. 237 238 It is. That's the handwriting of the staff member who Mr. Blankinship -239 reviewed the building permit at the time. 240 241 Mr. Bell -Thank you. Any questions? 242 243 Ms. Harris -Mr. Gidley, in the information that Mr. Shade 244 presented in the packet, he mentioned a lot of things about stormwater. What 245 relevance does that have to this particular case? 246 247 Mr. Gidley -Neither the County Attorney nor myself know what the 248 relevance of that is. We were discussing that yesterday, and we had no idea 249 what he was referring to and how it was relevant, to be honest with you. 250 251 Mr. Bell -So it looks like he's over about 114 square feet of the 252 253 requirement. 254 Right now he's at 1,374. And with the 960 limit, that 255 Mr. Gidley would be 414, I believe, that he needs to remove. 256 257 Mr. Berman -By my calculation, he removed 202, so he's at 1,172. 258 259 Oh, I'm sorry. Mr. Gidley -260 261 So he's 212 over. Mr. Berman -262

Mr. Gidley -

263

264

Okay.

265		
266	Mr. Berman -	Which would be the shed in the rear.
267		
268	Mr. Bell -	Any other questions?
269		
270	Mr. Baka -	Question for staff. If the ordinance says there in (2)a
271		occupy more than 30 percent of the required minimum
272		is there any other way that you can see that it could be
273		ercent of the actual yard area whether you have a five- Varina or whether you have a one-acre lot here in
274	Tuckahoe?	varina of whether you have a one-acre lot here in
275 276	ruckanoe :	
277	Mr. Gidley -	Not if you're zoned residential. And to get at your
278		t sentence, this would deal with agricultural lots on the
279		unless otherwise provided by this chapter, accessory
280		other lot or parcel may occupy in the aggregate not
281		of the actual rear yard area." So if you're zoned R
282	Residential, which Mr. S	hade is, which is R-3, you're limited to the required
283	minimum rear yard. Bu	t if you have a 3-acre lot in Varina that's zoned
284	Agricultural, then you go	with the actual rear yard, as the second sentence there
285	says.	
286		
287	Mr. Baka -	So to clarify your point, Mr. Gidley, you're saying the
288	•	R district, meaning any of the R, any of the residential
289	districts here in the Code.	
290	M 0: II	Vi-
291	Mr. Gidley -	Yes sir.
292	Mr. Baka -	The econd contains would apply to the greater
293 294		The second sentence would apply to the greater districts that are not an R district.
294 295	balance of an those other	districts that are not an ix district.
296	Mr. Gidley -	Yes sir.
297	Wil. Glulcy	100 011.
298	Mr. Baka -	Anything other than that. So the way the Code's
299		anything that's not an R district to be computed as the
300	actual lot area, 30 percen	, -
301		
302	Mr. Gidley -	Actual rear yard, yes.
303		•
304	Mr. Baka -	Interestingly enough, you're saying that it reads that
305	anything in an R district	t would not be actual, but it says right here required
306	minimum rear yard—	
307		
308	Mr. Gidley -	Yes sir.
309	14 D-1	40.00.0000
310	Mr. Baka -	—40, 80, 3200, you get to 960.

311 Mr. Gidlev -Yes sir, correct. 312 313 Mr. Baka -All right. Thanks for your clarification. 314 315 Mr. Blankinship -If I can expand on that just a bit, Mr. Chairman, Prior 316 to 1991, it began with the second sentence and without some of that preliminary 317 language. Prior to 1991, in any district, it was the rear yard area. And that was 318 interpreted as meaning the actual rear yard area. And then in 1991, the Board of 319 Supervisors amended the Code specifically to do this the way that it's been 320 constructed since then. There were several complaints about people in 321 residential areas having accessory structures that were felt to be out of character 322 with the district and out of proportion with the dwellings and with the lots sizes in 323 the district. And so in 1991, the Board of Supervisors amended the Code, put 324 325 that first sentence in there for the required minimum rear yard for the R district. and then spelled out that it was actual rear yard area for the A-1 district and any 326 other district in which there's a dwelling. 327 328 Mr. Baka -And just to clarify your other comment you made. 329 Mr. Gidley, you're saying that the Permit Center in your work experience has 330 clearly and consistently said for R districts since the last several years, '91, that 331 332 the interpretation is 30 percent of what is the district requirement. 333 334 Mr. Gidley -Yes sir. In fact, before there was a Permit Center, each department had their own front counter. And I supervised the Planning 335 Department's front counter for zoning approval. And that's how we applied this at 336 that time. And that would have been in the late 1990s. 337 338 339 Mr. Baka -Thank you. 340 Mr. Gidley -Yes sir. 341 342 343 Mr. Berman -I want to make sure I'm clear on the responsibility of

Mr. Berman - I want to make sure I'm clear on the responsibility of the Board on this decision today. And possibly Mr. Rapisarda can weigh in on this. Is it just to affirm or reject the Planning Department or does it also include any review of the occupancy or use of the structure?

Mr. Rapisarda - Mr. Berman, it would be simply to review the correctness of the determination that's made. I don't want to get ahead of myself, but if I can briefly—and I think this would address some of what Mr. Baka was saying. This Board's role, of course, is just simply to determine with that presumption I mentioned, is the director's decision correct. It's not for should the ordinance read "actual," should it be other proportions. I know Mr. Shade in part of his statement, for example, talked about the shape and the relationship to the size of the dwelling. These might be good points, but the point is it's up to the Board of Supervisors to write what the ordinance requirements are. As this Board

8

344

345 346

347

348 349

350

351

352

353

354 355

knows, that's not your function to do.

Again, I don't want to intrude on Mr. Shade's time at all, but if you'll look at his appeal document, the first thing he says is the ordinance in and of itself is erroneous. I hear his point that he's not satisfied with the ordinance, and certainly that's his prerogative. But that doesn't have anything to do with the determination. In other words, the ordinance—I hate to use the phrase "is what it is," but it truly is what the legislature of this County has made it. And this Board will simply then determine with those requirements in place did the Director of Planning interpret it correctly. And as I said, I don't really think this is even a matter of interpretation; it's very plain what was done.

Mr. Berman - And if the decision today is found against Mr. Shade, will it be explained to him and others what his options are?

372 Mr. Rapisarda - Yes sir, absolutely.

Mr. Berman - Okay. Thanks.

376 Mr. Rapisarda - Does that answer your question Mr. Berman?

378 Mr. Berman - Yes.

380 Mr. Rapisarda - Thank you.

382 Mr. Bell - Any other questions? Thank you.

384 Mr. Gidley - Thank you.

386 Mr. Bell - Anybody else wish to speak to this issue right now?

Mr. Shade - Good morning. My name's Charles Shade. I'd first like to open to apologize to the people of Henrico County for not providing complete information on my building permit. They provided me a home for the last fifty years, and my wife and family a home for the last thirty years. And I sincerely apologize.

To Mr. Rapisarda's point, does this ordinance seek to limit the size of the structure in relation to the primary dwelling. I submit that this is not the case. There are many homes in R-3 zoning around the Sweetbriar and Hollins Road areas that were originally constructed to be 28 feet wide and 22 feet deep. This is a footprint of 616 square feet. Though there are covered porches that increase this size, it is not heated, livable i.e. dwelling space. As written, the ordinance will allow for a 960-square-foot accessory structure to be built in the rear yard. Taken to one extreme, it can be two stories in height, or in the aggregate, 1,920 square

feet, far exceeding the scope of the primary residence. To Mr. Blankinship's point, that would be totally out of character with the existing dwelling.

Does the ordinance seek to control the shape of the accessory structure? Somewhat outside of the reach of this ordinance, but the shape could be quite interesting given that you're allowed 5-foot side yard setbacks and I believe a 5-or 10-foot rear yard setback. You could put this 60-foot-wide, 16-foot-deep two-story structure in a backyard. Again, out of character with the existing dwellings.

To Ms. Harris's point about stormwater runoff on a given lot. Even though it doesn't speak to that, even though Henrico County has no stormwater ordinance, as written, the owner is allowed to blacktop, concrete, hard surface, pave front to rear, left to right, and there's no worry given to coverage that way. Place a roof over this and then you have a problem. There is only one logical conclusion to this, that the roof is pitched. And since a hypotenuse is longer than the sides that form it, then there must be more water falling on a given area in a storm, and therefore more runoff. Logically, this makes no sense.

In the scope of the ordinance, is there thought given to the coverage of the lot by the dwelling? Another owner in Henrico County that I know is adding an accessory structure to his nearly four-acre parcel in the Varina area that is also R-3. He has 174,240 square feet of land, yet he can only place a 960-square foot accessory building on it.

What is crucial here are the front, side, and rear yard setbacks, the buildable area, if you will. For R-3 these are 40 foot, a total a 40-foot front, a total of a 30-foot side, and 40-foot rear, as well as the typical zoning requirements for a dwelling. If we use the most common shape for an acre—originally one furlong by one chain, or 660 feet by 66 feet—we can conclude that a dwelling of 135,720 square feet can be constructed on this property and be within the buildable area. But a 960.1-square-foot accessory structure is out of bounds.

Again, stormwater runoff from hard surfaces obviously is not the concern. My inclination is that no one has tried to do this yet anywhere within a residential district. On my own lot, I could construct an 8,278-square-foot footprint for a dwelling. Thinking about calling General Steel and seeing what I can put up.

If stormwater management is an issue, then once again the homes of the Sweetbriar and Highland Roads areas have another interesting thing. Since these lots are, on average, 70 feet wide and the minimum required width is 80 feet, there is an additional lot for each seven lots that are there. I quickly counted 200 lots in these areas that meet this criteria. Let's say we throw out 25 percent and concede that a few are 80 feet and over. We're still left with 150 lots divided by 7 or approximately 21 additional lots that otherwise should be provided for within R-3 zoning, which has a minimum lot width of 80 feet. This would account for 20,160 square feet more accessory structure than would otherwise be

allowed for a given area. Once again, stormwater management or coverage is not the concern of this ordinance.

Does the ordinance provide an advantage to one owner over another? What I'm showing here, the lighter lines that have the survey coordinates on them are my lot lines. You can see the 85 feet, 115 feet, 100 feet, 102 feet, 100 feet, 165, and then against the road, 110 feet. The heavy line that's represented in there at 70 by 145 is one of these typical lots in the Sweetbriar and Highland Roads areas. It fits in my backyard.

These particular R-3 lots around Sweetbriar and Highland are typically 70 feet wide. R-3 requires a minimum 80-foot-wide lot. So these owners are provided an unfair advantage in the use of their real property. In a sense, they are allowed to cover a greater percentage of their lot than another owner who happens to purchase a lot wider than the required 80-foot minimum.

By the simple choice of an address, homeowners in Henrico are possibly put at a disadvantage when it comes to the implementation of the Zoning Ordinance of the County. Since a percentage of the lot being covered is not a concern, I can relate on Hollins Road that has put the usual two-story bump-out and detached garage in the rear that we so typically see in the Westham area. From the County records, it can gleaned that the lot is approximately 12,640 square feet, and that though within the 960 square feet, the detached garage, the home, addition, and garage cover 19.8 percent of this owner's lot. In my own property, the coverage of structures equals to 13.8 percent of the property. By the simple choice of an address, one Henrico citizen is given an advantage over another.

I have worked on a project in my neighborhood that is a 16,063-square-foot R-1 zoned property within the Westham community. R-1 allows for a 50-foot rear yard setback and a minimum 150-foot lot width. In the case of this property, the aggregate is 2,250 square feet that they are allowed to cover in their backyard. Though nearly half the size of my lot, the owner of that address is allowed nearly 235 percent more area of their rear yard to be covered. The advantage that this owner realizes, as do all of those whose property is less than the required minimum width is the use of the required minimum width. Those whose property is greater than the required minimum width are penalized and put at a disadvantage.

In conclusion, Zoning Ordinance 24-95(i)(2)(a) neither controls the scope of the detached building in relation to the existing dwelling, nor does its support stormwater management within the community. The ordinance provides for an unfair advantage to some owners while penalizing their neighbors. The City of Richmond—and it grieves me to have to say this—seemed to understand the purpose behind such a zoning ordinance. Though there are rules that govern the size of the accessory structure and its height, the coverage of the lot is limited to a percentage of the lot that increases as the lot decreases in size. By doing so,

they can provide for a fair and equitable relationship from address, okay, from one neighbor to another.

495 496 497

498

499

500

501

502

503

504

505

506

507

494

I do understand that the zoning ordinance has been proffered through the years and existing neighborhoods had to be pigeonholed into particular zoning districts; that it is inevitable that each lot may not fall completely within the scope of the zoning district that it is in. There are exceptions within the Code that allow for this and quite rightfully should. This particular ordinance fails to even begin to address the scope of the accessory structure in relation to the dwelling or lot size. The ordinance fails to address the scope of the property in regards to stormwater management, and frankly, should be seen as an environmental concern. The polluting of our streams, rivers, and navigable water by excessive runoff is a concern that needs to be addressed. Look at the property as whole and not as bits and pieces.

508 509

510

511

I also have a couple of pictures of the rear yard. This is from our patio looking back. Come around a little bit and you can start to see the structures, the buildings. Again, from the patio looking back. Those are the three buildings that are of concern. Thank you.

512 513 514

Mr. Bell -Any questions?

515 516

517

Ms. Harris -Yes. Mr. Shade, if we look at the rear yard accessory structures plan here, I know one has been removed. Can you tell me about these other two, when they were constructed?

518 519

Mr. Shade -The one that is in the far back was purchased when 520 we bought the home in August 2005 and placed on the property. And the building 521 that is in the middle, from the this photograph the lightest color building was 522 probably built in 2006. Soon after we moved in. 523

524

Ms. Harris -So they were there when you— 525 526

Mr. Shade -No ma'am. We placed both of those. 527 528

Ms. Harris -They were there during the new construction? In other 529 words, this new construction was in 2014, right? The garage we're talking about? 530

531

Mr. Shade -532 Yes, those were there.

533

Ms. Harris -So they were there during that time. Okay. When did 534 you complete the new construction for this garage/office? 535

536

Mr. Shade -Well I guess technically we haven't since we don't 537 have a CO. But it would have been near the end of December 2014. 538

540 541	Ms. Harris - neighborhood that looks n	I drove by there, and I don't see anything in the early like that.
542 543 544	Mr. Shade -	Thank you.
545 546 547	Ms. Harris - neighborhood that are sim	I was wondering are there any other structures in your silar to yours.
548 549 550 551	not sure if it has siding	Yes, there are. On Lakewood Road there is a two-yard probably 24-foot square. But it is a two-story. I'm or masonry on it. But yes, there is. I know of that a rear yard of equal stature.
552 553 554 555	Ms. Harris - that particular yard?	Have you noticed if they have accessory structures in
556 557	Mr. Shade -	No ma'am.
558 559	Ms. Harris -	They do not.
560 561 562	Mr. Shade - their property.	I have not noticed because I have not trespassed on
563 564	Ms. Harris - to code?	Okay. Do you see a remedy to bringing this issue up
565 566 567	Mr. Shade - code—rewriting this section	Yes, I do see a remedy to bringing this issue up to on of the Zoning Ordinance.
568 569	Ms. Harris -	Other than rewriting the section of the ordinance.
570 571 572 573	Mr. Shade - guess is the only way with	Coming in compliance with the 960 square feet I nin the current structure of the Zoning Ordinance.
574 575 576	Ms. Harris - these accessory structure	So that means you would have to remove one of es.
577 578	Mr. Shade -	To be in accordance with that Zoning Ordinance, yes.
578 579 580 581 582	Ms. Harris - that one, yes. I want the information.	Okay. May I see this illustration, please? Rather than e one that says "Rear Yard." It was in our packet of
583 584		To Mr. Baka's question on the actual lot width, if an red to be used instead of an 80-foot random given, 150-

586 587 588 589	structures would fall in compliance with the ordinance. Again, going back to someone who has a lot that's 70 feet wide in R-3 zoning is allowed an advantage over someone who has a lot that's 100 feet wide.		
590 591 592 593	Ms. Harris - structure picture here on garage? What houses tha	My question in requesting the rear yard accessory the screen. What houses the one in the back of the t?	
594	Mr. Shade -	I'm not quite sure I understand.	
595 596	Ms. Harris -	What's in that accessory structure?	
597 598	Mr. Shade -	The 195-square-foot?	
599 600	Ms. Harris -	Yes.	
601 602	Mr. Shade -	Tools and—	
603 604	Ms. Harris -	Okay, that's fine.	
605 606	Mr. Shade -	Coolers.	
607 608	Ms. Harris -	The one that's in the middle?	
609 610	Mr. Shade -	Garden equipment and home files.	
611 612	Ms. Harris -	Okay. Those are my questions, thank you.	
613 614	Mr. Bell -	Any other questions?	
615 616 617 618 619 620	contention that the calcu	Mr. Shade, please tell me if I'm accurately depicting ying to boil down pages of your comments. Is it your lation that we are using is being applied to all yards he yard as opposed to a percentage?	
621	Mr. Shade -	Yes.	
622 623	Mr. Berman -	That's your issue.	
624 625	Mr. Shade -	Yes.	
626 627	Mr. Berman -	Okay. Thanks.	
628 629 630 631		Your discussion points in your letter and your nt out your position of certain inequities or deficiencies in the Code. As you look at pointing out certain	

disadvantages in what the legislative body adopted, I'm trying to understand the same question I guess I asked Paul earlier. If the ordinance says that the required yard for the district is measured as the actual required yard of 40 by 80 or 3,200, notwithstanding the discussion points about square footage of the primary dwelling and stormwater management, how can this board interpret that first sentence in 24-95(i)(2)(a) any differently than what's been presented by the staff?

Mr. Shade - I understand exactly what you're saying. As was pointed out, it is a simple math problem. I just don't believe that the ordinance provides for an equitable solution across the County. I believe the ordinance is erroneous. I believe the ordinance needs to be changed. I believe the ordinance needs to reflect what is actually there, what the lot is as opposed to here's just some numbers that as far as I know came out—when I go to Municode.com, came out of something that was written I don't know where. I think it was just boilerplate here we go. I don't think thought was put into it. I don't believe that questions were asked. As I said, I don't think anyone has ever, to my knowledge—and granted, I didn't go down and search through Board of Zoning Appeals cases for the last couple of decades, but I don't know that anyone's ever asked the question. Or if the question's ever come up.

Mr. Baka - I understand. And as a formed small business owner myself—I had a land planner zoning business out of my home for seven years, working in my living room. I almost wish I had an accessory structure that is—it's a very beautiful property you have, very well done. My wife almost wishes I was working out in the garage or out in the accessory structure, not in our living room. However, I guess I'm compelled to look at some restraint in just reading the actual language in seeing that when we read the Code on its face that, in my opinion, it doesn't appear to give—I'm saying this board, but doesn't appear to give me a whole lot of wiggle room from its current interpretation.

I did have one comment about the letter that you wrote on August 18th. This may be a separate matter. In your first paragraph, number one, size of the structure in relation to the primary dwelling. You could have a 616-square-foot home and you could have an accessory dwelling that's about three times as large. Actually, the only thing I was going to point out on that is if the accessory structure exceeds the actual square footage of the primary dwelling it's no longer accessory. You would not be allowed to have a 1,920-square-foot accessory dwelling because it no longer meets the definition of accessory because it's not accessory because it's not smaller in size.

673 Mr. Shade - Now this is the first that I've heard of accessory being smaller in size.

Mr. Baka - The word *accessory*, standard zoning denotes that it has to be some type of subordinate—it implies some type of subordination or

subordinate use. So in most of the zoning codes I've seen across Virginia, you have to infer some type of subordination of size. It no long implies that it's accessory when the square footage is—

Mr. Shade - But subordinate use could be that it was a garage below and an attic above. Then it would be subordinate to the existing structure even though it was larger.

Mr. Baka - Not use, but actual square footage. I just wanted to point that out. I don't want to go through—I'm not sure this morning is the appropriate time to go through the five or six points you have here. Some were interesting and some were, as I pointed out, perceived disadvantages or deficiencies in the Code. Having said that, what also strikes my ear is that we've heard the staff say that they've consistently interpreted that for a number of years, whether it's been from 1991 or just in recent memory from long-term service of staff and others that no one's been—from what we've heard, we don't know of anyone that has been unfairly treated by that interpretation of the ordinance.

 At its face, I appreciate your comments this morning. I don't have any further questions at this time other than I think the Board just has to look at the first sentence in Section A and read on its face what the actual language says. The other issues about legislative will be for another day.

Mr. Bell - In the comparison that was presented earlier about the preponderance of evidence, we've got good opinions on both sides, good arguments on both sides. However, we also have 15-2.2309. What we're operating under now whether we like it or not. It's within the four corners of that piece of paper. To change that piece of paper, that's not what we're here to do. There is where conversation among ourselves will make the decision. I just wanted you to understand that we might agree with you 100 percent that it should be changed, but we're not here for that purpose. We're here to listen to you, and to listen to what the County presents. Regardless, this is what it says. Do you have any questions?

Mr. Shade - Or to allow an exemption to it.

715 Mr. Baka - No other questions.

717 Ms. Harris - No more questions.

**8** 

Mr. Berman - One quick question. Is the two-story structure behind the mass of the house, the primary structure?

722 Mr. Shade - Yes. It is in the rear yard. It is also constructed within the primary residence's building setbacks. It is not in a side yard at all.

724 725	Mr. Berman -	Okay. It's hard to tell from this. Thanks.
726 727 728 729	Mr. Shade - shape of a lot being at an seventeen feet off of the rig	The shape of the lot being—if I can find it here. The angle away from the home. And you can see that it's ght side property line.
730 731	Mr. Romers -	I have a question.
732 733	Mr. Bell -	Yes, go ahead.
734 735 736	Mr. Romers -	The structure that's causing the overage in square ry structure. Is that correct?
737 738	Mr. Shade -	I guess you could look at it that way.
739	IVII. Strade -	I guess you could look at it that way.
740 741	Mr. Romers -	Is that the most recent structure?
742	Mr. Shade -	That's the most recent, yes.
743 744	Mr. Romers -	That's the building permit from 2014?
745 746	Mr. Shade -	Yes.
747 748 749	Mr. Romers -	And so you were issued a building permit at that time.
750 751	Mr. Shade -	Yes.
752 753 754	Mr. Romers - but does the building pern setback and determine if it	And this may not be a question exactly for yourself, nit process evaluate the square footage on a rear yard exceeds it at that time?
755 756 757 758	Mr. Shade provided. He b	Yes sir, it does. I'll answer that. The Permit Center ough the calculation based on the information that began his remarks by noting that he left off one of the
759		lid not show it on the plan. So the person reviewing the
760 761	-	in because he wasn't aware that it existed. And also it permit drawing at that time that one of the buildings
762	<del>-</del>	you take out those two, then it would have met the 30
763	•	was caused by two things. There was a building that
764		ans that was on the ground. And there was a building
765		removed that initially was not removed. Now that one I
766	understand has been remo	oved now

October 22, 2015

Mr. Romers -

767

768 769 The 202-square-foot one is noted as being removed.

770	Mr. Blankinship -	Yes, yes.
771 772 773 774 775 776 777	those sheds like I would that the new structure wi	It appears to me that we've got a tool shed, a yard ew structure that's there. Understanding the value of all have on my own property, what I'm noting, though, is ithout the porch, I'm not sure if the porch adds more culation, but I think it does because it's a roof.
778 779	Mr. Shade -	Because it's a roof. That's just—yes.
780 781	Mr. Romers -	I understand that.
782 783 784	Mr. Shade - concrete.	Again, I could pour another thousand yards of
785 786 787	Mr. Romers - showed. I don't know if the	I don't remember seeing a roof in the picture that you e roof was there at this time.
788 789	Mr. Blankinship -	It is.
790 791	Mr. Romers -	It is there. Okay.
792 793	Mr. Shade -	Yes.
794 795 796		Okay. So without the roof and with the landscaping 60 square feet, you're already 17 feet over at that point, I remove the far back shed—
797 798 799	Mr. Shade -	I gotta cut—
800 801 802 803 804		You have to take off something else to make this ig back to the building permit process. The original det them that was not correct, the calculations from that, e feet?
805 806	Mr. Shade -	Yes, yes.
807 808 809	Mr. Romers - time?	Is that why the building permit was issued at that
810 811 812	Mr. Blankinship - of our exhibits.	Yes sir. And that calculation is actually shown on one
813 814	Mr. Romers - at that point is what trigge	I did see it. And I guess the next question I'm asking red— .

816 817	·	A complaint! It's interesting, but I finally understood ss there was a complaint filed, this never would have
818 819	been an issue.	
820 821	Mr. Romers -	Why was the complaint filed?
822 823 824 825		From what we understand, our neighbor objected to be because they thought we were going to be looking ng on them. Quite frankly, they are not that interesting.
826 827 828 829	Mr. Romers - not that you had too many the—	So their concern and their complaint at that time was y structures, too large of structures on the property, just
830 831	Mr. Shade -	The height.
832 833 834 835 836		—construction of the new facility being built. But what ispection of the property and the determination that is many structures on the property. This thing is built;
837 838	Mr. Shade -	Done, yes.
839 840 841	Mr. Romers - outcome of these building	It's just in suspense at the moment. Built pending the s.
842 843 844	Mr. Shade - structure as permitted wa	Correct. And built according to permit at well. The s not altered.
844 845 846 847 848	•	Mr. Romers, we should probably note that the nt and can't speak for themselves. We're inferring why ed.
849 850 851 852 853		I hate to be slow to the finish line, but I was just asp of it. And I'm not sure at all what we're going to do stion will be if we don't do anything with this, and then it ecourse at that point?
854 855	Mr. Shade -	You're asking me what my recourse is?
856 857 858	Mr. Romers - inside compliance.	I believe you're supposed to resubmit a plan to get
859 860 861	Mr. Shade - to change the Zoning Ord	Actually, I fully intend to petition the County of Henrico inance.

862	Mr. Romers -	Thank you, sir. That's all my questions.
863 864 865 866	Mr. Baka - recourse at that time? I thi	If that recourse is not successful, then what is your ink that's what Mr. Romers question is getting at.
867 868 869	Mr. Shade - it down. And I believe th have them come film it.	I think that you would have to backhoe over and take at the local television stations, I would do my best to
870 871 872	Mr. Baka -	You mean the small shed in the backyard not the—
872 873 874	Mr. Shade -	Yes. Not the big one, no.
875 876 877	Mr. Romers - the square footage.	You would work from the back to the front to achieve
878 879	Mr. Shade -	I don't believe in the ordinance at all.
880 881	Mr. Romers -	I understand that, sir. I completely understand that.
882 883 884 885		And I think the ordinance is hugely deficient and I truly think that I'm the first person to ask. Maybe not, it is something that needs to be revisited.
886 887 888 889 890 891 892 893 894 895 896	compelled to respond. As reason of regulating case that occurred at random done by the Board of Sup a problem. We have this obuilding permit applicant surprised to find that what Mr. Shade is not within a	He's raised that point about three times, so I feel I said, in 1991, the Code was amended for the specific s like this. It was not an accident. It was not something or numbers chosen out of the air. It was deliberately pervisors at that time to address what they perceived as conversation, I don't know, once every two weeks with a who wants to build something in his rear yard and is the wants to build is larger than what the Code allows. Thousandth of being the first person to raise this issue here. We have this conversation all the time.
897 898 899	Mr. Romers - answers.	I think I'm up to speed on it. Thank you for your
900 901	Mr. Beli -	Any other questions?
902 903 904 905	Mr. Berman - calculation of the structure livable space?	Yes. I'm sorry if you covered this one. On the e in question, why are we including the porch if it's not a
906 907	Mr. Blankinship - way that is spelled out in t	The words in the Code are "lot coverage," and the terms of setbacks, that term is not specifically defined in

the Code. The way that is defined in terms setbacks and other regulations similar to this one always refer to from the ground upward. And the roof is allowed to overhang, in some cases, in a setback situation. But when we're determining the area of the structure or the distance from a property line that a structure can extend, it's always the roof that we're measuring from.

Mr. Berman - The reason I'm asking is because without that porch coverage, the rear shed, if the 195-square-foot shed were removed, he would be in compliance.

Mr. Blankinship - Yes. You mention the seventeen square feet. There are other ways that we could probably come up with seventeen. We could go out there and actually pull a tape measure on each of these buildings. No one at the County is intending to be unfair to Mr. Shade in any way or to put any unreasonable imposition on him. We'd just like to end up with what he showed on the building permit that was approved.

Mr. Berman - And also, back to my question on the mass of the house. I still don't see how it is completely behind the mass of the house. And I'm not even sure if that's relevant to this request. If you put that picture back up really quick; just indulge me.

Mr. Blankinship - He's not been cited for a violation of that. So even if there were a violation, it's not really on the table this morning. But I would be happy to address it with you. What we do to determine that is take the rear yard, which is the one all the way to the right.

Mr. Baka - What about the 24-foot setback?

Mr. Blankinship - If we could go to where we just were, that was actually the best one. There we are. At the very top of this page, you have a line that's labeled 102.24 feet. Just draw a line parallel to that. Just picture yourself pulling that line down the page until it touches the nearest point of the dwelling, the principal building. And then everything behind that line is the rear yard of the property.

Mr. Baka - So it's about twenty-four feet behind the house, if I remember right.

Mr. Blankinship - Yes. On this page that you're looking at on the screen, the road frontage, the front lot line is at the bottom of the page. The rear lot line is at the top of the page. The dwelling is the one-story brick right there in the middle. The rear line of the building is a little difficult to read here; it just got faded by the copy machine.

953 954	Mr. Shade - feet, that's the rear corner	Right there where the hand is sitting with the 17.444
955 956 957 958 959	•	Where it says "stone patio," that patio is entirely in the uilding is behind the stone patio. So it is entirely in the is only a patio; there's no roof over that.
960	Mr. Berman -	Okay, thanks.
961 962 963 964 965 966 967	property, but obviously, probably leave if we're tr	Could I see a picture of the structure again, the new isn't to help solve the problem by demolition of the depending on how this goes, the rear shed would ying to get down to 960 feet. But if the gutter were to—I assume that's coverage, too. That would save you
969 970 971	Mr. Blankinship - is allowed to overhang be very edge of the roof.	We would actually measure from the posts. The roof eyond the post, so we wouldn't literally measure to the
972 973	Mr. Romers -	Thank you, sir.
974 975	Mr. Bell -	Any other questions?
976 977	Mr. Berman -	It's not currently occupied, correct?
978 979	Mr. Shade -	Correct.
980 981	Mr. Bell -	Thank you.
982 983	Mr. Shade -	Thank you all.
984 985	Mr. Bell -	Any rebuttal? Or anyone else who wishes to speak?
986 987 988	Mr. Blankinship - to see if anyone else wan	Mr. Rapisarda, do you want to go next or do you want ts to speak?
989 990	Mr. Rapisarda -	I'll wait and see.
991 992	Mr. Blankinship -	All right.
993 994	Mr. Bell -	Anyone else?
995 996 997	Mr. Blankinship -	No, all right. It's moot.

Mr. Rapisarda -Mr. Chairman, very briefly. I know we've been at it nearly an hour. Just two quick points. I think Mr. Shade, in fairness—and I appreciate his candor. He really should be arguing to the Board of Supervisors. I think we all agree what the ordinance is. And I just want to point out one provision in your handout that I neglected to say earlier. This is that State Code 15.2-2309 that the Chairman referenced. Paragraph 5 of that, which is on page 2, provides just as I was staying, but these are in the words of the General Assembly that no provision of this section shall be construed as granting any board—and that means the Board of Zoning Appeals—the power to base board decisions on the merits of the purpose and intent of local ordinances duly adopted by the local governing body. Again, what we've heard here, Mr. Chairman and members of the Board, is a compassioned argument about the equities and fairness of what is a very clear ordinance. And so I respectfully suggest to the Board that it has no discretion but to uphold the determination by the Director of Planning and would respectfully ask you to do so and uphold the decision. Thank you.

1013 1014 1015

998

999

1000 1001

1002

1003 1004

1005

1006

1007

1008

1009

1010 1011

1012

Mr. Bell -

Thank you. Any questions?

1017 Mr. Shade -

[Off microphone.] May approach again?

1018 1019

1016

Ms. Harris -

Not supposed to.

1020

1022 1023

1024

1025

1026

1027

1021 Mr. Bell -

I have no problem with it, as long as you keep it short.

Mr. Shade - Yes sir. To that point about the discretion of the Director of Planning, there is no ombudsman for a citizen in Henrico County from Henrico County. There is no one within Henrico County on my side. Every one—as soon as this came up, it's all about here's what's written, here's the power that I can bring to the table. But no one from Henrico County to speak for me. And I just wanted to have that said. Thank you.

1028 1029 1030

Ms. Harris - Before Mr. Shade sits down, the question was asked was this new accessory structure occupied. I thought you said no.

1031 1032

1033 Mr. Shade -

Yes ma'am.

1034 1035

1036

1037

1038

Ms. Harris - Our report says that it has been occupied. So I was wondering which is it. On page 2 of 2 of the staff report. Do you have a packet of information? Under "background," page 2 of 2. Second paragraph from the bottom. The sentence says "Over the following year, the new accessory structure has been occupied although a certificate of occupancy had not been issued."

1039 1040

1041 Mr. Shade -

We have placed items in there, but we do not occupy

1042 **it**.

1044	Ms. Harris -	So there is no office space that you use?
1045 1046	Mr. Shade -	It's a home office, yes. But it's not used regularly.
1047 1048 1049	Ms. Harris -	It is used, but not regularly.
1049 1050 1051	Ms. Harris -	Correct.
1051 1052 1053	Mr. Shade -	It's a home office space.
1054 1055	Ms. Harris -	Okay, thank you.
1056 1057	Mr. Bell -	Thank you.
1058 1059 1060	Mr. Baka - make a motion?	Mr. Chairman, at this time, if it's appropriate, may I
1061 1062	Mr. Bell -	Yes.
1063 1064 1065		One quick point; I'm sorry, Mr. Baka. Correct me if I'm point an ombudsman like two years ago. But it may just owners associations. That was fairly recent.
1066 1067 1068	Mr. Blankinship -	That was appointed by the state?
1069 1070	Mr. Berman -	Virginia.
1071 1072 1073	Mr. Blankinship - know.	I'm not familiar. I'm not sure that's really—I don't
1074 1075	Mr. Berman -	Okay.
1076 1077 1078 1079 1080 1081 1082 1083 1084 1085 1086 1087	a beautiful addition has be text of the ordinance, I this the notice of violation that director could have reast director was within his be opinion that after hearing Attorney that the Planning point, I would make a recharge Shade, on the g	Mr. Chairman, at this time, with due respect to the presented, understanding it's a beautiful property and been done, reading the face of the ordinance, just the ink we need to get back to the fundamental question of twas issued on July 7, 2015, and whether the Planning sonably reached this decision, whether the Planning bounds of interpreting the ordinance correctly. It's my the information from the applicant and from the County of director did reach a reasonable conclusion. And at that motion that we deny the appeal for APL2015-00002, rounds that the Planning director had the discretion to on based on the text of the current code.
1089	Mr. Bell -	Do I hear a second?

	1090			
	1091	Mr. Romers -	I second it.	
	1092 1093	Mr. Bell -	Is there any more discussion? Hearing no disc	ruesion
	1093		e. All those opposed say nay. The ayes have	
	1095	motion has been denied.	s, 7 m moss appeared only may, 1 ms ayes may	,
	1096			
	1097	After an advertised public	hearing and on a motion by Mr. Baka, secor	nded by
	1098		ipheld the decision of the Director of Planni	ing and
	1099	denied application APL20	15-00002, Charles Shade.	
	1100			
	1101	Affirmative:	Baka, Bell, Berman, Harris, Romers	5
	1102 1103	Negative:	baka, bell, bernian, nams, nomers	0
	1103	Absent:		0
	1105	71300111.		•
	1106			
	1107	Mr. Bell -	Let's go ahead and approve the minutes	of the
	1108	September 24th meeting.		
	1109		- Adult to the second	1.1
	1110	Mr. Berman -	Excuse me. At this point are we able—sho	ould we
	1111	discuss what the options a	are or will that be handled off line?	
1	1112 1113	Mr. Blankinship -	We'll take care of that.	
	1114	M. Barminomp	Tro ii tano baro di mat.	
	1115	Mr. Berman -	Okay.	
	1116			
	1117	Mr. Bell -	Approval of the minutes, September 24th. Do	I hear a
	1118	motion on the minutes?		
	1119	Mr. Daka	Any changes to the minutes?	
	1120 1121	Mr. Baka -	Any changes to the minutes?	
	1121	Ms. Harris -	I move that the minutes be approved as submi	tted.
	1123			
	1124	Mr. Bell -	Do I hear a second to the motion?	
	1125			
	1126	Mr. Baka -	Second.	
	1127	Mar Dall	to these and discussion? Hearing none off	lhaaa in
	1128	Mr. Bell -	<ul> <li>Is there any discussion? Hearing none, all to e. All those opposed say nay.</li> </ul>	mose m
	1129 1130	lavoi oi ilie iliolioli say ay	e. All tilose opposed say hay.	
	1131	On a motion by Ms. Har	rris, seconded by Mr. Baka, the Board appro	ved as
	1132		of the September 24, 2015, Henrico County I	
	1133	Zoning Appeals meeting.	•	
	1134			
•	1126			

1136 1137 1138 1139	Affirmative: Negative: Absent:	Baka, Bell, Berman, Harris, Romers	5 0 0
1140 1141 1142 1143 1144 1145	directed and voted on last	Mr. Bell, I'll just note that you have sign Board of Zoning Appeals to the Board of Superv I month. If anybody wants to review that, it's hel guage straight from the minutes and inserted it.	isors as
1146 1147	Mr. Bell -	Any other new business or old business?	
1148 1149 1150 1151 1152		Mr. Blankinship, when was that letter sent thind me right now. We'll probably mail it—I'm rethat. We just send it upstairs and it goes out	not sure
1153 1154 1155	Mr. Bell - that we adjourn?	Any other news or old business? Do I hear a	motion
1156 1157	Mr. Berman -	I move that we adjourn.	
1158 1159	Mr. Bell -	Do I hear a second?	
1160 1161	Ms. Harris -	Second.	
1162 1163 1164	Mr. Bell - The ayes have it; we are a	All those in favor say aye. All those opposed or adjourned.	lay nay.
1165 1166 1167 1168 1169	Affirmative: Negative: Absent:	Baka, Bell, Berman, Harris, Romers	5 0 0
1170 1171 1172		7300.	
1173 1174 1175		Gentry Bell Chairman	
1176 1177 1178 1179		RWBlif.	
1180		Benjamin Blankinship, AICP Secretary	